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PART 1: THE EXPLORING JOARA PROJECT  

Robin Beck, David Moore, and Christopher Rodning 

 

Columbusô landfall in the Bahamas in October 1492 initiated what was perhaps the most 

dramatic century of cultural exchange in human history.  Over two continents, the native peoples 

of the Americas--from Tierra del Fuego to the St. Lawrence River--withstood waves of explorers, 

settlers, proselytizers, and profiteers from Spain, England, France, Portugal, the Netherlands, and 

other distant centers of European colonial aspiration.  Of these nations, Spain was by far the most 

ambitious in its early efforts at exploration and conquest (e.g., Bray 1993; Deagan 2003; Thomas 

1989, 1990, 1991).  Research at the Berry site in western North Carolina (Figure 1) is shedding 

significant new light on the process and practice of colonialism in the Americas, as its borderland 

setting was the northern frontier of Spainôs long reach (Hoffman 1990; Hudson 1990; Lyon 1976; 

Paar 1999).  Here, in January 1567 at a native village named Joara, Captain Juan Pardo founded a 

garrison, Fort San Juan, and manned it with thirty soldiers.  Occupied for nearly a year and a half, 

this garrison was the earliest European settlement in the interior of what is now the United States.  

Berry witnessed one of the longest colonial encounters between Europeans and the inhabitants of 

North Americaôs interior until the seventeenth century.  This project offers provides insight into 

both the anthropology of colonialism--particularly across these Atlantic borderlands--and into the 

ethnogenesis of this regionôs Historic-period, native societies. 

 

 
 

Figure 1, map of Catawba River Valley 



 3 

Theoretical Background 

Silliman (2005) has recently proposed disentangling the concepts of 'culture contact' and 

'colonialism' in historical archaeology.  He suggests that while the term 'contact' may be suitable 

for initial or first encounters, the term 'colonialism' better suits long-term contexts of interaction 

between Europeans and the native peoples of North America.  Initial European contact, as such, 

occurred in the upper Catawba Valley during May of 1540, as the Hernando De Soto expedition 

marched across the Carolina Piedmont.  We approach the founding, occupation, and destruction 

of Fort San Juan--which took place in 1567-1568--as constituting a colonial encounter, in which 

native peoples of the upper Catawba Valley engaged in daily, sustained interaction and exchange 

with representatives of a colonial power.  This encounter, in turn, informs the broader process of 

colonialism, especially with respect to similar frontier and borderland settings.  In approaching 

this episode as a colonial encounter, we make no presumptions about 'donor' or 'recipient' cultures 

(e.g., Foster 1960; Spicer 1961).  Indeed, in such frontier contexts the conventional roles of donor 

(i.e., colonial Spanish) and recipient (i.e., native) cultures were often reversed (Deagan 1985:300-

304, 2003:8; Ruhl and Hoffman 1997).  We suggest that this role reversal is related to what Stein 

has referred to as distance parity, a condition of colonial interaction in which "the core's ability to 

exercise hegemonic power decays with distance, thereby leading to increasing parity or symmetry 

in economic and political relations with increasingly distant peripheries" (1998:228-229). 

The central goal of this project has been to assess the degree of cultural exchange and 

interaction at Fort San Juan de Joara, and to expand Steinôs distance parity model from its 

applications to the exchange of bulk and prestige commodities to the daily interactions implicated 

by the concept of colonial encounter.  We have pursued these aims through the study of 

household practice within the archaeological remains of Fort San Juan.  Previous investigations at 

the Berry site have identified five large buildings, numerous pit features, and a probable palisade 

associated with the fort; these buildings, which our data indicate housed Spaniards stationed at 

Joara, display a remarkable state of preservation and provide a unique laboratory for 

reconstructing domestic practice in the setting of this early Spanish colonial frontier.  Practice 

theory (e.g., Bourdieu 1977, 1984; Giddens 1979) shows how the routine interactions of daily 

life, and their patterning in material culture, constitute the making and remaking of social 

identities.  Research at the Berry site therefore addresses a key anthropological question: How do 

people in multi-ethnic, colonial settings construct and maintain identity through household 

practice, and what is the role of distance parity in such contexts? 

 Recently there has been a shift away from unidirectional studies of acculturation, focused 

on how native peoples passively accepted elements of European culture, toward a more balanced 

and agent-centered approach in which both European and native peoples actively negotiated their 

identities within colonial settings (Cusick 1998; Deagan 1983, 2003, 2004; Ewen 1991; Lightfoot 

1995; Lightfoot, et al. 1998; Scott 1990; Silliman 2005).  Deagan notes, for example, with respect 

to the Spanish Empire, that 

 

 The goals of establishing civilized Christian life as dictated by the  

Church and the Crown were apparently adjusted most strikingly (and perhaps  

even largely ignored) in rural and frontier areas of the empireé.In fact, there  

is some indication that the Spaniards who lived in these communities made far 

greater adjustments to the American mode of life than vice versa (2003:8). 

 

While Stein (1998, 1999) focuses his distance parity model of interregional interaction on 

commodity exchange between ócoreô regions and their peripheries, we believe that this model has 
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broader implications for colonial exchange along frontiers, including those that Deagan discusses 

in the passage cited above.  Distance parity, an alternative to earlier world system approaches that 

assumed cultural hegemony in core-periphery relations, posits that the ability of a ócoreô region to 

project its power and cultural influence into peripheries diminishes with distance, leading to more 

symmetrical exchange relations (Stein 1998:229).  As Deaganôs passage suggests, conventionally 

expected patterns of exchange--of both material commodities and cultural practices--may actually 

be less symmetrical than reversed in frontier settlements such as Fort San Juan.  That is, the more 

distant or isolated a colony is from its 'core' (or from fellow colonies), the more dependent it will 

be on exchange and interaction with peoples native to the region in which it is founded, assuming 

relative technological and organizational parity between colonists and native hosts.  Our aim was 

to test this modified approach to distance parity in the archaeological remains of Fort San Juan. 

 
Joara and Fort San Juan 

During the first half of the sixteenth century, Spanish explorers failed in several efforts to 

colonize what is now the southeastern United States.  Finally, in 1565-1566, Pedro Menéndez de 

Avilés successfully founded two settlements on the south Atlantic Coast: San Agustín, founded 

September 1565 in Florida, and Santa Elena, founded April 1566 on present Parris Island, South 

Carolina.  The latter settlement, Santa Elena, was to be the principal town of Menendez' colonial 

aspirations (Hoffman 1990; Hudson 1990; Lyon 1976, 1984; Paar 1999).  When Philip II learned 

of this success, he ordered reinforcements for the new colony.  In July 1566, Captain Juan Pardo 

arrived at Santa Elena with a company of 250 soldiers and began to fortify the settlement.  As the 

Santa Elena colony was ill-prepared to feed this large contingent of men for very long, however, 

Menendez ordered Pardo to prepare half of his army for an expedition into the interior lands that 

lay behind the Atlantic coast.  Pardoôs task was to explore the region, to claim the land for Spain 

while pacifying local Indians, and to find an overland route from Santa Elena to the silver mines 

in Zacatecas, northern Mexico (Figure 2).  Pardo left with 125 men on December 1, 1566. 

 

 
 

Figure 2, route of the Juan Pardo Expedition 
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 In January 1567, after crossing the Carolina Piedmont along the Wateree and Catawba 

rivers, Pardo and his men arrived at Joara, a large native town in the upper Catawba Valley near 

the eastern edge of the Appalachian Mountains (e.g., DePratter, et. al 1983; Hudson 1990).  The 

leader of Joara, referred to in the accounts as Joara Mico [Mico was a native term for regional, 

multicommunity chief (Anderson 1994; Hudson 1990)], maintained authority over a number of 

neighboring villages on the upper Catawba River and its tributaries (e.g., Beck and Moore 

2002:201).  Pardo renamed this town Cuenca, after his native city in Spain.  At Joara, he built a 

fort, San Juan, which he garrisoned with thirty men.  While previous expeditions into the interior 

had made seasonal encampments or had temporarily occupied native towns, Pardo explicitly built 

Fort San Juan to expand the Santa Elena colony into the northern frontiers of La Florida.  In so 

doing, he founded the earliest European settlement in the interior of what is now the United 

States.  During a second expedition into the Carolinas and eastern Tennessee, Pardo built five 

smaller forts along his proposed route to Mexico, but it is clear from the accounts that Fort San 

Juan was the most important of his frontier outposts (Bandera I and II 1990, Pardo 1990). 

 Over most of the eighteen months that Spanish soldiers lived at Joara, amicable relations 

existed between the people of this town and their European guests--on at least two occasions, for 

example, the Spaniards accompanied native warriors in attacks on hostile native chiefs across the 

Appalachians in Tennessee and Virginia (Beck 1997a).  Also, when Pardo was preparing to leave 

the fort during his second expedition, he commanded its ensign, Alberto Escudero de Villamar, to 

ñjudge and have a care of the conservation of the friendship of the caciques and Indians of all the 

landò (Bandera I 1990:278).  In the months after Pardoôs departure in November 1567, however, 

relations between Fort San Juan and the people of Joara took a calamitous turn for the worse.  By 

May 1568, news reached Santa Elena that Indians had attacked all of Pardo's forts, including Fort 

San Juan, and that all were destroyed (Hudson 1990:176).  Several factors may have played a role 

in this aggressive action, but two stand out: the soldiers' demands for food and their improprieties 

with native women.  At Fort Santiago, for example, Pardo ordered ñthat no one should dare bring 

any woman into the fort at night...under pain of being severely punishedò (Bandera I 1990:285).  

In the end, 130 soldiers and all of Pardo's garrisons were lost, and with them Spain's only attempt 

to colonize these northern frontiers of La Florida; indeed, it was more than a century before other 

Europeans are known to have penetrated this far into southern Appalachians. 

 

Archaeological Investigations at the Berry Site 

 Archaeological and documentary evidence (e.g., Beck 1997b; Moore 2002; Worth 1994) 

indicate that the Berry site (31BK22) is the location of Joara and Fort San Juan.  Berry is located 

along Upper Creek, a tributary of the upper Catawba River, in what is now Burke County, North 

Carolina (Figure 3).  The site covers about 5 ha and is located along the eastern margin of a 75 ha 

alluvial bottomland at the junction of Upper and Irish creeks.  Archaeological evidence indicates 

that Berry was one of the largest late prehistoric sites in the upper Catawba Valley (Beck 1997a; 

Beck and Moore 2002; Moore 2002).  The site was first described in Cyrus Thomasô monumental 

1894 report on mound explorations by the Smithsonian Institutionôs Bureau of Ethnology, where 

it is described as a ñMound on the west Bank of Upper Creek 8 miles north of Morganton (about 

15 feet high and unexplored)ò (1894:151).  Both the earthen mound and its surrounding site were  

regularly plowed, and in 1964 the mound itself was bulldozed to provide fill for a low-lying area 

to the west of the mound that was subject to flooding.  Today, the mound measures about 70 m in 

diameter and rises to a height of 1.5 m.  Our work at the Berry site includes 13 seasons (1986, 

1996-97, 2001-10: a total of 70 weeks of excavation and survey. 
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Figure 3, northern portion of Berry site 

 

During the sixteenth century, the Berry site (i.e., Joara) sat at the northeastern edge of the 

Mississippian cultural world and at the northwestern edge of the Spanish colonial frontier.  Berry 

was the political and ritual center of a Mississippian chiefdom, one of many similar polities in the 

Midcontinent and Southeast from A.D. 1000-1600 (Anderson 1994; Beck 2003; Blitz 1999; Cobb 

2003; Hally 1996; Knight 1990; Muller 1997; Smith 1978).  Systematic surveys north and south 

of Berry have located 26 sites with Mississippian ceramics (Beck 1997a), and analysis suggests 

that many were contemporaneous with Berry.  We suggest that these nearby archaeological sites 

are the core of Berryôs polity (Beck and Moore 2002), and Moore (2002) has defined this period 

of occupation along the upper Catawba and Yadkin rivers as the Burke phase (A.D. 1400-1600).  

The broader, long-term aims of our research program are to understand the process of social 

change during Burke phase times; to learn of the role that Spanish colonial strategies had in this 

process--and in the process of polity formation; and to learn of the role Joara had in Catawba 

Indian ethnogenesis during the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries.  The excavation of Fort San 

Juan addresses one of these key long-term aims--evaluating the nature of intercultural interaction 

at Joara--while also offering a temporal benchmark for the study of post-contact transformations 

and ethnogenesis across the Carolina Piedmont. 

Research at the Berry site, under the auspices of the Upper Catawba Archaeology Project, 

has included systematic surface collection and gradiometer survey over the entire 5 ha site (Beck 
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1997a; Hargrove and Beck 2001; Schroedl and Moore 2002).  Excavations, which total over 1000 

m² to date, have focused on the 0.3 ha area (Figure 2) immediately north and south of the mound, 

where we have recovered a relatively large assemblage of Spanish ceramics and hardware.  What 

is more, our excavations in this northern part of the site have revealed a compound of five burned 

buildings.  In the following sections, we review the archaeological evidence that we have thus far 

recovered from this compound, which constitutes the material remains of Fort San Juan.  None of 

Pardoôs five other forts has yet been identified by archaeologists. 

 

Sixteenth-Century Spanish Ceramics and Hardware 

Not surprisingly, the vast majority of cultural materials recovered in this compound area 

are of native manufacture, including a predominance of Burke ceramics.  As Deagan has recently 

stated, ñeasily identifiable European objects [and] artifacts may not be abundant or even present 

in Native American sites occupied early in the contact periodò (2004:603).  In the particular case 

of Fort San Juan, Pardoôs expedition had no horses--and there is no mention of porters--such that 

expedition members likely carried most of their provisions on their own backs.  Nonetheless, we 

have recovered a relatively large assemblage of sixteenth-century Spanish artifacts from the area 

of the compound, both from feature and plowzone contexts (Figure 4).  Spanish ceramics include 

14 sherds from four different Olive Jars.  Olive Jars are the most ubiquitous ceramics recovered 

on Spanish colonial sites in the New World, and their use spanned a period from the 1490ôs to the 

nineteenth century (Deagan 1987:28-34; Goggin 1960).  Pardo was provisioned with 72 liters of 

wine for the expeditions (Hudson 1990:126), which was almost certainly carried in Olive Jars. 

 

 
 

Figure 4, Spanish ceramics from the Berry site 

 

Several sherds from the Berry assemblage are diagnostic, including one sherd of Caparra 

Blue majolica and six small fragments from a single Mexican Red Painted vessel.  Caparra Blue 

is a common-grade, tin-enameled earthenware (Lister and Lister 1982:61-62) that has a temporal 

range of ca. 1492 to 1600 in the Americas (Deagan 1987:63).  It is known to occur in but a single 
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form: the albarelo, or drug jar (Lister and Lister 1982:61).  Although never common, it has been 

found in the southeastern United States at Santa Elena and sixteenth-century St. Augustine (e.g., 

Deagan 1987:63; Goggin 1968:135), as well as at the Governor Martin site, location of Hernando 

De Sotoôs 1539 winter encampment near Tallahassee, Florida (Ewen and Hann 1998).  Mexican 

Red Painted, a coarse earthenware manufactured in Mexico and at other production centers in the 

Americas, has a temporal range of 1550-1750 (Deagan 1987:43-44).  The temporal distributions 

of Mexican Red Painted and Caparra Blue overlap during the period from 1550-1600, suggesting 

that the Berry site assemblage of Spanish artifacts dates to a narrow, fifty-year interval consistent 

with Juan Pardoôs founding of Fort San Juan in January 1567. 

The assemblage of Spanish ceramics recovered from the Berry site is distinct from other 

collections of Spanish material recorded from sites in the interior Southeast, as most collections 

consist primarily of glass beads and other non-utilitarian trade goods (Smith 1987).  Sites in this 

region have yielded but three sixteenth-century Spanish sherds: one Green Bacin sherd from the 

Ruth Smith Mound in Florida (Mitchem 1989:56), one Columbia Plain sherd from the Pine Log 

Creek site in Alabama (Little and Curren 1989:183), and an unidentified majolica fragment from 

the McMahan site in eastern Tennessee (Smith 1987:50).  Significantly, each of these sherds had 

been altered by native people into non-utilitarian forms such as ear spools or gaming disks.  That 

none of the Spanish ceramics recovered from the Berry site exhibit such alterations suggests that 

these were simply disposed of as utilitarian debris.  Also, as Worth (1994) notes, the presence of 

multiple sherds from several different Olive Jars strongly suggests that these vessels were broken 

at the site, having arrived at Berry intact as part of a Spanish occupation.  The only known site in 

the interior with a similar assemblage is the aforementioned Governor Martin site. 

In addition to the Spanish ceramics, this section of the Berry site has yielded examples of 

other artifact classes that we would expect to find at the location of Fort San Juan, including lead 

shot, quartered lead shot, and lead sprue--all in the same caliber range as lead shot and quartered 

shot from Santa Elena (South, et al. 1988:81-87); wrought iron nails that can be characterized as 

the Barrote type based on measurements of length and weight, and which were usually employed 

in finishing work such as flooring, matting, and similar projects needing little strength (South, et 

al. 1988:39-40); brass aglets or lacing tips similar to aglets recovered at Santa Elena (South, et al. 

1988:135); and numerous brass scrap fragments.  We have found several small glass beads in the 

compound area, but none is temporally diagnostic.  In 1986, Moore (2002:237-239) recovered an 

iron knife from the burial of a fully extended adult male just south of the platform mound.  Pardo  

gave eight knives to Joara Mico as gifts for his subjects (Bandera I 1990:265), and the knife from 

this burial may have been one of those gifts. 

 

Architectural Remains 

 Gradiometer and auger testing in 1997 revealed the presence of burned buildings, as well 

as multiple large pit features, in the 0.3 ha area north of the remnant mound (Beck and Hargrove 

2002); subsequent gradiometer surveys over the remaining 4.5 ha of the site yielded no evidence 

of burned buildings (Schroedl and Moore 2002), suggesting that burned architecture is restricted 

to that part of the site where most of the Spanish materials have been recovered.  Since 2001, we 

have exposed more than 1000 m² in this area, defining a compound of five burned buildings that 

form an oval pattern around what was probably a courtyard area.  Large pit features--from which 

we have recovered brass lacing tips, glass beads, Mexican Red Painted ware, small fragments of 

iron, and scrap brass, as well as faunal remains and native-made Burke ceramics--occupy spaces 

between structures (Best and Rodning 2003).  The buildings are all approximately square, cover 

ca. 64 m² each, and while unusually large, were built in a style typical of local, Native American 
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houses (Figure 3); this is not surprising, as the Pardo accounts state that native craftspeople built 

at least one of the buildings that housed Pardoôs men (Hudson 1990:143).   

 Prior to NSF-funded work in 2007-2008, we had only sampled the undisturbed portions of 

one of these burned buildings, Structure 1 (Figure 5).  Test excavations inside Structure 1 during 

the 2003 and 2004 seasons exposed ca. 12 m² of its remarkably well-preserved organic remains 

and yielded abundant data on its construction and use-history, including carbonized wooden posts 

and timbers from the walls and roof, cane matting from the walls and floor, and architectural 

furniture such as split-oak benches along the wall.  What is more, artifacts remained in situ on the 

floor and the benches, apparently in the same places as when the burning structure collapsed.  

Preliminary analyses suggested that some of Pardoôs soldiers may have spent time inside the 

building, and may actually have assisted in its construction.  First, while the general style of 

Structure 1 was consistent with native techniques and technologies, some of its timbers were 

apparently cut with metal tools, one having been prepared with a square-cut notch.  Although this 

buildingôs overall form was therefore consistent with native practices of house construction, 

metal cut timbers would suggest that Europeans worked together with the native craftspeople to 

complete this structure (Beck and Ketron 2003; Moore, Beck, and Rodning 2004a, 2004b). 

While most of the artifacts from the Structure 1 excavations were of native manufacture, 

excavations in the southwestern corner of Structure 1, just above the floor surface and next to the 

wall bench, yielded two small pieces of twisted iron wire that Stan South and Chester DePratter 

have identified as links of chain mail (2003, personal communication).  Individual links routinely 

separated from sections of armor--archaeologists found many such fragments, for example, at the 

at the aforementioned Governor Martin site in Florida (Ewen and Hann 1998)--and the fragments 

recovered in Structure 1 were apparently either lost on the seat of the wall bench or else ended up 

under the bench on the floor of this structure. 

 

Research Questions 

 Documentary and archaeological data indicate that Fort San Juan was not an entirely self-

sustaining enterprise, and if our modified version of Stein's distance parity model is applicable to 

this colonial context, then the soldiers' dependence on native Joara, and their inability to exercise 

hegemonic authority over the colonial encounter, should be manifested in the material remains of 

households within the compound.  However, while the fort seems unlikely to have had an entirely 

independent status relative to Joara, distance parity may have had a weaker influence than current 

data lead us to expect.  A strong or weak role for distance parity will be indicated in the nature of 

exchange and interaction between Joara and Fort San Juan: how dependent was the fort on Joara's 

largesse, and what was Joara's cost for hosting the Spaniards? 

 A strong role for distance parity--suggesting relative dependence of colony to host--would 

be indicated by the significant incorporation of native practices, foodways, and material culture in 

household contexts inside the fort, accompanied by a loss of Spanish domestic practices.  It is our 

expectation that Spanish soldiers at Fort San Juan retained what Deagan refers to as "traditionally 

'male' categories and socially visible categories of the material world" (2003:7).  These categories 

would include clothing, military, and religious items and practices.  It is in domestic, traditionally 

female contexts that we expect native practices to have supplanted elements of European material 

culture.  These categories would include food, cooking and ceramic technology, and the form and 

organization of domestic architecture (while Deagan [2003:7] considers architecture to have been 

a "socially visible" category that retained its European features in most Spanish colonies, some of 

the lower status, Spanish houses at Santa Elena were built in a manner derived from that of native 

structures (South 1991:21-24)].  Alternatively, a weak role for distance parity--suggesting relative  
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Figure 5, preliminary excavations in Structure 1, 2003 
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independence of colony from host--would be indicated by a significant conservatism with respect 

to Spanish practices, foodways, and material culture in household contexts. 

Along frontiers, households are particularly well-suited to provide archaeological data on 

colonial encounters (e.g., Deagan 1983, 1995, 2004; Ewen 1991; Hoffman 1997; Lightfoot, et al. 

1998; McEwen 1993, 1995).  Lightfoot, et al. note that, ñFrom an archaeological perspective, we 

believe the study of change and persistence in multi-ethnic contexts pertaining to the construction 

of social identities may be best addressed by considerations of daily practices involving domestic 

life and the organization of spaceò (1998:202).  This phase of our archaeological research at the 

Berry site has focused on the excavation and analysis of household contexts in Fort San Juan.  

We designed the project--its fieldwork and its laboratory analyses--in reference to three domains 

of household practice: 1) house construction; 2) household organization; and 3) food preparation 

and consumption (Lightfoot, et al. 1998:209-215).  Our research questions inform these three 

domains, and together address our key problem: How did Spaniards and their native hosts at Fort 

San Juan construct and maintain social identities through household practice? 

 

Domain 1: House Construction 

1) How was the labor of house construction organized? 

2) What kinds of material culture were used to build and maintain houses? 

3) What kinds of techniques and practices were used to build and maintain houses? 

4) In what season(s) of year were houses built? 

Due to their extraordinary preservation, Structures 1-5 at the Berry site provide a unique 

opportunity to study the materials and techniques of house construction along a Spanish colonial 

frontier during the mid-sixteenth century.  Detailed analysis of timbers and architectural furniture 

such as wall benches and mats will permit us to determine the season of year that structures were 

built, the types of wood used for different structural elements, the kinds of tools used to dress and 

shape materials (e.g., metal or stone tools), and the materials used to join different elements (e.g., 

nails).  The Pardo documents suggest that Spaniards built the fort itself, while native Joarans built 

at least one of its associated houses.  However, our previous archaeological research suggests that 

both Spanish and native construction practices were incorporated in Structure 1.  Detailed data on 

house construction will shed light on whether Spaniards and Joarans worked together on the same 

buildings, or whether their work parties were culturally segregated.  Seasonality data will suggest 

whether Joarans helped to build and repair structures throughout the 18-month period that the fort 

was occupied, or whether their cooperation coincided with Pardoôs visits--both of which occurred 

during the late fall/winter months of October-November and January. 

 

Domain 2: Household Organization 

5) What kinds of activities took place within and around houses? 

6) How were household activity areas spatially organized? 

7) What kinds of material culture were incorporated into household contexts? 

8) How did gender mediate the organization of household activity areas? 

 Spanish soldiers lived at Fort San Juan for 18 months, until its destruction, and it is likely 

that each of the burned Structures 1-5 housed several soldiers throughout this period.  Excavation 

and analysis of undisturbed house floors and outdoor features will offer unparalleled data on how 

early colonial Spaniards incorporated native lifeways into their daily practices, while maintaining 

their European cultural identities.  These house floors and features should also provide data about 

gender relations at Fort San Juan, especially regarding the extent to which native women engaged 

in household activities within the garrison.  Across the Spanish Americas, native women were, as 
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Deagan observes, ña potent forceò in the integration of Spanish and native communities (2003:8);  

indeed, Spaniards made some of their most significant adjustments to American life in household 

contexts, guided by the social practices of native women (Deagan 1983, 1995, 2003; Ewen 1991; 

McEwen 1991; Reitz and McEwen 1995).  The Pardo documents hint at relations between native 

women and Spanish soldiers stationed at some of the interior forts, and several of Pardo's soldiers 

later married Indian women who were brought back to Santa Elena during the second expedition.  

One of these, Teresa Martín, gave official testimony in 1600 that when Pardo did not return to the 

interior within ñthree of four moonsò of the first expedition, some of his soldiers began to commit 

indiscretions with local women, angering their men (Hudson 1990:176).  Martín was identified as 

a native of ñJuacanò (presumably Joara), and was married to one of the thirty soldiers stationed at 

Fort San Juan after Pardo's first expedition, Juan Martín de Badajoz; Hudson (1990:176) suggests 

that they may have married at Joara, and so perhaps lived together in Fort San Juan. 

 

Domain 3: Food Preparation and Consumption 

9) Where did food preparation activities take place? 

10) What kinds of food were prepared and consumed in household contexts? 

11) What kinds of material culture were used in food preparation and consumption? 

12) How were the wastes associated with food preparation and consumption discarded? 

 Food is one of the primary avenues through which people maintain their social identities.  

Our specialist studies, together with detailed contextual data, will allow us to examine how 

Pardoôs soldiers provisioned themselves while occupying the fort, and the degree to which they 

received provisioning from the town of Joara.  We seek to understand what kinds of food were 

consumed in the fort, and to learn what kinds of tools were used in food preparation and serving.  

Foods may have been prepared in these houses by Joaran women or by Spaniards themselves, or 

in the village by Joarans and taken to the fort for soldiers' consumption.  For example, when 

Pardo arrived at Joara during his second expedition, he saw that Joara Mico had built a new 

house for the fort, ñwith a large elevated room full of maizeéfor the service of His Majestyò 

(Bandera I 1990:265). 
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PART II: RESEARCH DESIGN AND FIELD METHODS  

Robin Beck, Chris Rodning, David Moore, and Merrit Sanders 

  

Excavation Strategy 

 Excavations of household contexts in Fort San Juan recovered archaeological evidence 

about the construction of these buildings, the range of activities that took place within them, and 

the nature of activities that took place in outdoor zones between buildings.  Our recent fieldwork 

had exposed Structure 5 in its entirety (Figure 6)--to the level of intact architectural deposits--and 

our first season (2007) focused on the complete excavation of this building.  We have followed 

procedures similar to those used during preliminary excavations of Structure 1 (e.g., Beck and 

Ketron 2003; Moore, Beck, and Rodning 2004a, 2004b).  The aims of these excavations were to 

acquire an understanding of this structure's internal stratigraphy and its degree of preservation, 

and to thereby develop a strategy for excavating this and the other buildings of the fort.  Having 

completely exposed the top of Structure 5's intact deposits, we had already screened the 

plowzone over this building (all plowzone soil was screened, as we have found that it contains 

Spanish artifacts), and we simply stripped away this backfilled plowzone to more efficiently 

pursue this structure's complete excavation.  In season two (2008), we excavated sixty percent of 

Structure 1.  Together, the complete excavation of Structure 5 and the partial excavation of 

Structure 1 offers highly detailed and anthropologically significant understanding of daily 

household practice in the context of this early colonial encounter. 

 Excavations have also uncovered extensive activity areas between and around the 

structures themselves, revealing the presence of postholes and pits, the contents of which offer 

insight into the use of space outside the buildings (Moore and Rodning 2001; Moore, Beck, and 

Rodning 2004a, 2004b; Rodning, Beck, and Moore 2002).  Excavations in the areas between and 

around Structures 1-5 continued through both field seasons and were conducted as a part of the 

Warren Wilson College field school.  Additional data from the outdoor activity zones and the 

presumed plaza at the center of the compound permit us to reconstruct the broader layout of 

architectural space at Fort San Juan--complementing data from the structures themselves--and 

have enabled us to better understand the spatial context of exchange and interaction between 

native people from Joara and members of the Pardo expedition.  Continuing excavations by the 

Warren Wilson College field school have also focused on native areas of Joara, south of the 

mound and Fort San Juan; data from such contemporaneous village contexts provide comparanda 

for both the artifacts and the patterning of artifacts within the zone of Spanish occupation. 

 

Excavation Procedures  

 Our excavation techniques are a modified and modernized form of archaeological 

practice that has proven successful in research by the NSF-sponsored Cherokee and Siouan 

Projects, based respectively in western North Carolina and the central North Carolina and 

Virginia Piedmonts (Dickens, Ward, and Davis 1991; Dickens 1976, 1978; Keel 1976; Ward and 

Davis 1993, 1999).  One critical component of our approach to excavations at Berry is broad 

horizontal exposure of large areas to reveal site layout--excavations to date have exposed 1000 

m² at the Berry site--by stripping plowzone with shovels and dry-screening the soil through 1/4 in 

hardware mesh.  Another key aspect of our general excavation strategy is hand-tool excavation of 

intact architectural debris and floor deposits, as well as hand-tool excavation of pit features inside 

and outside of structures, and water-screening of all soil deposits from such contexts.  Four teams 

of archaeologists, working simultaneously, conducted excavations inside structures.  We have 

collected at least one standard-sized, 10 l bulk flotation soil sample for every excavation locus 
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inside the structures and pit features, along with a 5 g "soft" soil microanalysis sample, for 

processing and analysis by specialists.  Intact wood and plant fiber specimens have also been 

collected for analysis. 

 We excavated within natural stratigraphic zones in all structures and pit features, using 

1x1 m units inside the structures to control for provenience and mapping.  In those sections of the 

site between structures, we created broad horizontal exposures in contiguous 3x3 m units, dry-

screening plowzone in these squares and mapping the locations of all pits and postholes.  We 

have made detailed plans, profiles, and photos of all structures and features, and standardized 

field forms were completed for all contexts.  Data relating to soil characteristics, elevation from 

datum at top and bottom of context, plan maps, artifact density and types, and related variables 

have been recorded on these forms.  One of our key recording techniques has been to create 

photomosaics of the architectural remains as structure excavation proceeds; there photomosaics 

were compiled by 1x1 m units in each stratigraphic zone.  Given the extraordinary preservation 

of organic remains in the burned buildings, we conducted on-site microexcavation of particular 

architectural contexts.  At the close of fieldwork, we backfilled and stabilized all exposed areas.  

Artifacts were bagged by context in the field, then washed, sorted, and catalogued by type in the 

laboratory, then permanently curated in the Warren Wilson College Archaeology Laboratory, 

where they are available for all subsequent research and analysis.  All organic samples have been 

curated in a similar manner prior to processing. 

 

Excavation Description 

 From 2007-2008, we conducted two seasons of fieldwork in Structures 1 and 5 to address 

the issues outlined in the first section of this report.  Previous excavations of burned structures in 

the Southeast have often focused on removing architectural debris down to the level of living 

floors and associated material culture.  We, too, have been interested in artifact assemblages from 

structure floors, and in the activities that took place inside and beside these structures, but we are 

also interested in the design, construction, and destruction of these buildings. 

Plow zone deposits were removed with shovels and dry-sifted through quarter-inch mesh 

hardware cloth.  Beneath plow zone were the undisturbed remnants of Structures 1 and 5.  Plow 

scars made it difficult in some cases to differentiate plow-disturbed dirt from intact structural 

debris (Figure 6), but exposing large areas enhanced our ability to follow plow scars while 

troweling off the top of undisturbed remnants of these buildings.  Before excavations of intact 

structural material, we divided Structures 1 and 5 into one-by-one-meter units.  We covered 

structure excavation areas with canopy tents, and when necessary, with sheets draped from the 

sides of these pole-frame tents (Figure 7).  This covering protected material from exposure to 

sunlight, and also created favorable lighting conditions, both for differentiating color and texture 

during excavations, and for consistency in our photographs.  We began excavations at the edges 

of the structures, moving inward from there.  Typically, groups of two people worked together to 

excavate each one-by-one-meter square, removing each zone from each unit with trowels and 

other small hand tools, recording notes, taking total station readings, drawing stratigraphic 

profiles, and preparing each unit for photos at the top and bottom of each zone (Figures 8, 10).  

Exposing contiguous units has enhanced our ability to detect and to interpret spatial patterns and 

stratigraphic profiles. 

Before beginning excavation of intact structural debris, we took photographs at the top of 

each unit, from an angle as close to directly overhead as we could achieve.  We then removed 

each zone identified in each square in turn.  Many wooden timbers spanned multiple units, which 

required decisions about which timbers to leave intact until excavations of adjacent squares were 
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completed.  All deposits were removed with trowels and other small hand tools.  From each zone 

in each unit we removed a 10-liter flotation sample, a 5-liter soil sample for microartifact 

analysis, and an additional 1-liter soil sample.  All other material from each zone in each unit was 

waterscreened.  We recorded the volume of material removed for waterscreening from each unit, 

then conducted the screening on site; most flotation samples were also processed on site. 

 

 
 

Figure 6, exposing Structure 5 

 

On a judgmental basis, Elizabeth Horton of Washington University, St. Louis removed 

some units by microexcavation techniques, with the goal of collecting information about cane, 

grass, and textiles.  The material in these squares was floated, rather than water-screened.  This  

microexcavation enabled her to identify weaving patterns seen in concentrations of split cane, for 

example, as in elements thought to represent part of a bench (Figure 9). 
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Many artifacts and architectural elements have been piece-plotted, but our one-by-one-

meter grid gives us spatial control even for artifacts that were found during waterscreening or 

flotation (Figure 10).  On a judgmental basis, large sherds, stone tools, and other artifacts have 

been mapped and photographed in place.  All organic material present on the floors of structures 

1 and 5 has been mapped with a total station, as have all postholes and all concentrations of daub.  

Often, we have used a four-inch tall stadia rod for the laser prism, which makes it relatively easy 

to ensure precision with our readings, and which minimizes impact of placing the stadia rod itself 

on burned timbers while mapping them.  Organic samples deemed worthy of further analysis 

have been mapped in place, then removed and wrapped in foam padding for transport. 

 

 
 

Figure 7, tent over Structure 1 

 

In addition to total station mapping, we have also taken flash photos at the top and bottom 

of each zone within each unit, which enables us to create photomosaic images of entire structures 

at different levels of our excavations.  These photos are taken by standing on the same rung of a 

stepladder, which is always placed in the same position relative to each excavation square, and by 

taking photos with our camera placed above the middle of each unit, and pointed straight down.  

Individual unit photos are then stitched together in Adobe Photoshop.  

 Our structure excavation unit photos have been critical for creating photomosaic images, 

and we have also begun using them as the basis for hand-drawn field maps.  In 2008, we began 

printing unit photos and then tracing the edges of timbers, other organic material, artifacts, 

postholes, and any other features of interest while actually looking at the relevant material in the 

ground.  The scanned versions of these hand-drawn field maps--stitched together and traced in  
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Figure 8, working in Structure 1 

 

 

 
 

Figure 9, possible cane bench section in Structure 5 


